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          1  DEPARTMENT OF MENTAL HEALTH

          2                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  Department of

          3  Mental Health, Mental Retardation and Alcohol

          4  Services, and this will be co-chaired by my

          5  distinguished colleague from Brooklyn, Council

          6  Member Una Clarke, who is the distinguished chair of

          7  the Subcommittee on Mental Health, Mental

          8  Retardation and Alcoholism Services.

          9                 This joint session, actually it is

         10  more than joint, because it is the Finance, Health

         11  and the Subcommittee on Mental Health, Mental

         12  Retardation.

         13                 Commissioner Neal Cohen, I welcome

         14  you back again. I believe that you were here when I

         15  made my opening remarks. Let me then extend the

         16  courtesy to my distinguished colleague from Brooklyn

         17  that she will now wear the hat, and somewhere along

         18  the process after reading her statement and also

         19  questioning, she will give you a left hook with the

         20  40th District. But right now let her open this part

         21  of the hearing with an opening statement, which I

         22  believe that she has.

         23                 Council Member Clarke.

         24                 CO-CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you, Mr.

         25  Chairman.
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          1  DEPARTMENT OF MENTAL HEALTH

          2                 Commissioner Cohen, I am pleased that

          3  you have returned. But once again, we begin this

          4  year with the same important task that we ever have,

          5  looking at the financial plan, which we hope will

          6  provide funding for programs needed to serve the

          7  numerous mental hygiene needs of the residents of

          8  the City of New York.

          9                 While this is a process that we go

         10  through every year, this year is very special

         11  because we set in motion what we hope that in the

         12  new millennium will be what the mental health, the

         13  cutting edge of what mental health services can be

         14  for the people of the City of New York.

         15                 I would like to see this new

         16  millennium from the state to see a second New York

         17  New York Agreement, and although the Governor did

         18  not include it in his budget, we cannot but continue

         19  to push from both sides of the hall to make sure

         20  that this important agreement come to help homeless

         21  mentally ill and the many services that it provides

         22  for.

         23                 However, as part of the City

         24  government we have a great responsibility to create

         25  new programs and to ensure that we are properly
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          2  funded. And the best way to achieve these goals is

          3  through cooperation with the New York City Council

          4  and the Administration and I have tried in my own

          5  role to make sure that that partnership is something

          6  that is solid and that it accrues to those whom are

          7  served under those programs.

          8                 Therefore, I am a little bit

          9  disturbed that there was this money that the Speaker

         10  had put in for substance abuse initiative in the

         11  current fiscal year, nearly the entire year has

         12  passed, since both sides have agreed on those

         13  programs a plan was given to us and I recognize that

         14  even now there are no contracts. If there are

         15  contracts then you can correct me on that.

         16                 So, without further ado, I would like

         17  for you to really explain all of these new

         18  initiatives, along with what you see as the future

         19  of mental health for the people of the City of New

         20  York.

         21                 Thank you, again, for coming and you

         22  may identify the persons by your side. Although I

         23  know each of them, I just need their names for the

         24  record, because I give them as much harassment as I

         25  give you, so don't feel that you are the only one
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          2  bruised by me.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And I am glad I

          4  am not the only one.

          5                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Thank you. Thank

          6  you, Councilwoman.

          7                 It's a pleasure to be back. I am Neal

          8  Cohen, Commissioner of the Department of Mental

          9  Health, Mental Retardation and Alcoholism Services.

         10  Seated to my far left is Mr. Carlos Diaz, Deputy

         11  Commissioner for Child Adolescent Services. To my

         12  immediate left, Elsie DelCampo, Deputy Commissioner

         13  for Program Services, and to my right, First Deputy

         14  Commissioner Dan Still. I am pleased to have this

         15  opportunity to address you today, and would like to

         16  thank the City Council for its continued support of

         17  the Department and its goals.

         18                 First, I will address the items in

         19  the January Preliminary Financial Plan that affect

         20  the Department's budget for FY '99 and FY 2000 and

         21  then highlight the proposals in the Governor's

         22  budget for State Fiscal Year '99/2000 that affect

         23  the Department. And finally we will briefly discuss

         24  some of the Department's program initiatives.

         25                 I am pleased to report that the
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          2  Preliminary Financial Plan does not contain any

          3  reductions for Fiscal Year 2000 or the outyears.

          4                 For Fiscal Year '99, the Financial

          5  Plan targets savings of $7.9 million and revenue

          6  increases of $1.1 million. The $7.9 million savings

          7  will not result in any service reductions to

          8  existing programs.

          9                 Of the 7.9 million savings, the 4.8

         10  million and 2.5 million are attributable to delayed

         11  start-up of substance abuse programs in the

         12  voluntary sector and the HHC sectors respectively.

         13                 An additional $100,000 of savings

         14  will be achieved through accruals in the

         15  Department's administrative personnel service

         16  budget. These savings are the result of hiring

         17  delays.

         18                 Finally, accruals in the Mental

         19  Health voluntary sector will result in savings of

         20  $500,000.

         21                 I would like to stress that these

         22  savings will not impact the existing services and

         23  are for FY '99 only and are not being carried into

         24  Fiscal Year 2000.

         25                 The $1.1 million of additional
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          2  revenues included in the financial plan represents

          3  an increase in audit recoveries.

          4                 On an ongoing basis, the Department

          5  recovers funds from delegate agencies. The

          6  recoveries are primarily the result of desk audits

          7  performed by the Department's fiscal staff. For

          8  Fiscal Year '99, as a result of continuing

          9  management initiatives, including further

         10  computerization of the desk audit procedures, an

         11  additional $1.1 million of recoveries will be

         12  achieved and used to meet our savings target.

         13                 Turning now to the state budget, the

         14  governor released his proposed budget for say Fiscal

         15  Year 1999/2000 in February, his proposal for mental

         16  health contains only a few changes, however, there

         17  is major new funding for mental retardation and

         18  significant licensing and funding changes proposed

         19  in alcoholism and substance abuse services.

         20                 The State Budget also includes

         21  funding for the 2.5 percent cost of living

         22  adjustment for the not-for-profit voluntary

         23  providers that was enacted by the legislature last

         24  year.

         25                 Notably in Mental Health, the
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          2  Governor has recommended full funding for the

          3  community mental health reinvestment program. This

          4  recommendation for year six of community

          5  reinvestment is for a total of $14.7 million,

          6  annualizing to $29.4 million.

          7                 This is based upon a projected census

          8  decline of 470 patients in state psychiatric

          9  facilities.

         10                 Based on the proportion of

         11  reinvestment funds that New York City has

         12  historically received, we estimate that

         13  approximately $13.8 million of the annualized total

         14  amount of funds will come to the City.

         15                 Despite the full statutory funding

         16  for reinvestment, the Governor's budget does include

         17  what we might term a back-door attack on

         18  reinvestment funding.

         19                 In prior years the state has been

         20  paying for some staff to work in community-based

         21  programs in counties across the state.

         22                 These positions are referred to as

         23  shared staff.

         24                 This budget proposes to eliminate

         25  state funding for those positions, and also include
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          2  language allowing the county to use their

          3  reinvestment dollars to pick up the cost of the

          4  salaries for these workers.

          5                 The total savings to the state from

          6  eliminating payment for the shared staff would be

          7  $11 million statewide.

          8                 We are carefully examining the list

          9  of affected positions in New York City, but

         10  according to state figures, the City would lose

         11  approximately $1.4 million in state funding for

         12  salaries for these positions.

         13                 The budget also reappropriates the

         14  $40 million in capital funds from last year's budget

         15  for a second round of New York New York housing. The

         16  City is still negotiating with the Governor's Office

         17  on amending and extending the New York New York

         18  Agreement, and although there are no major new cuts

         19  proposed in Mental Health Services that there have

         20  been in past years, there are also no major new

         21  initiatives or service expansions in either adult or

         22  children services, other than the reinvestment

         23  funding.

         24                 For mental retardation and

         25  developmental disabilities, the Governor has
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          2  proposed major new expansions in residential and day

          3  services in the OMRDD budget.

          4                 The Governor's budget includes $24.6

          5  million, per 980 beds for the first year of the

          6  housing initiative, to eliminate the adult waiting

          7  list for beds for persons with developmental

          8  disabilities, known as the New York State Creating

          9  Alternatives in Residential Environments and

         10  services or New York State CARES. New York State

         11  CARES will also fund 190 new day service

         12  opportunities, $1.3 million for new family support

         13  services for persons on the residential waiting

         14  lists.

         15                 The budget also includes $3.4 million

         16  annualizing the $6.8 million for 164 new beds for

         17  those who are aging out from either special

         18  education or the foster care system or those who are

         19  referred to OMRDD of the New York City

         20  Administration for Children's Services.

         21                 This aging-out population will also

         22  benefit from 1,400 day habilitation opportunities

         23  for persons who are aging out from special education

         24  day school programs.

         25                 For those ready for some kind of
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          2  employment, the OMRDD budget includes 1,200 new

          3  supported work slots. Finally, for medically complex

          4  children, the OMRDD budget includes funding for 100

          5  slots for the Care At Home Waiver Program.

          6                 Turning to alcoholism and substance

          7  abuse services, the Governor's budget includes $14.5

          8  million of increased federal funding, from the

          9  federal substance abuse prevention and treatment

         10  block grant.

         11                 The Governor has proposed that $3

         12  million of these additional federal funds be

         13  targeted to prevention grants, to strengthen school,

         14  college and community-based programs.

         15                 The remaining would go to treatment

         16  programs, including $4 million of outpatient

         17  services to women with children, persons needing HIV

         18  services and other special populations.

         19                 $32 million for enhanced vocational

         20  services, $2.5 million to maintain appropriate

         21  staffing and community programs, and $2 million to

         22  support the transition of newly employed public

         23  assistance recipients to self-sufficiency.

         24                 In addition, in order to complete the

         25  legislative frame work for the merger of the
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          2  separate substance abuse and alcoholism state

          3  agencies, that resulted in OASAS, the Governor has

          4  proposed the creation of a new Article 32 of the

          5  Mental Hygiene Law which would consolidate the

          6  licensing of alcoholism and substance abuse agencies

          7  into a single chemical dependency licensure and

          8  subject all agencies to new unified operating

          9  provisions, including a new funding formula for

         10  state aid.

         11                 Now I would like to briefly discuss

         12  some of the Department's program initiatives.

         13                 The Community Mental Health

         14  Reinvestment Act has allowed the Department to

         15  substantially strengthen New York City's

         16  community-based mental health system, and as you

         17  know, the State approved a two and a half year

         18  extension for the reinvestment law, continuing it

         19  until September 2001.

         20                 Since the beginning of the

         21  reinvestment program, the Department has created or

         22  is in the process of creating 268 new programs that

         23  help persons with mental illness live in their

         24  community.

         25                 The Department now has the State's
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          2  approval of the regular reinvestment year 5 plan,

          3  and of the total $7.1 million coming to the City of

          4  New York, the Bronx will be receiving $1.3 million,

          5  Brooklyn will receive $2.3 million, Manhattan will

          6  be allocated $1.5 million, Queens receives $1.7

          7  million and Staten Island gets $0.3 million.

          8                 The Department received 40 proposals

          9  for the State Commissioners' performance pool. Ten

         10  proposals have been identified as meeting current

         11  Department priorities, and final selection by the

         12  State Office of Mental Health is expected very

         13  shortly.

         14                 The Year 5 Homeless MICA, Mentally

         15  Ill Chemical Abuser, Reinvestment Plan will result

         16  in $12.8 million allocation to New York City for new

         17  program development. Priority services include

         18  housing services, consumer-run self-help programs,

         19  mobile treatment and outreach, vocational employment

         20  services, and services to adolescents and young

         21  adults.

         22                 The Department has recommended 53

         23  proposals for funding and is awaiting final approval

         24  from the state.

         25                 In preparation for award of
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          2  Reinvestment Year 6 funds, the Department is

          3  conducting public hearings again this spring to

          4  determine the needs and priorities in each borough,

          5  and that will further strengthen community mental

          6  health services.

          7                 The Department's Borough Offices have

          8  already started a distribution of about 4,000 public

          9  hearing announcements to consumers, providers,

         10  advocates, community boards and elected officials,

         11  including members of the City Council.

         12                 In the area of housing, the State

         13  Office of Mental Health has issued an RFP to

         14  establish 350 supported housing beds, and 80

         15  supported SRO beds in New York City.

         16                 These programs were authorized in the

         17  State Fiscal Year '98/'99 budget. Twenty-three

         18  non-profit agencies were selected to implement the

         19  supported housing program, and five non-profit

         20  agencies were prequalified to develop the supported

         21  SROs.

         22                 This development activity for both

         23  programs is currently underway.

         24                 With regard to the $500,000 placed in

         25  the Department's FY '99 budget by the City Council
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          2  for Mental Health Services, we are currently

          3  allocating $250,000 through a negotiated acquisition

          4  process to establish a forensic link program in the

          5  Bronx.

          6                 The remaining $250,000 will be used

          7  to enhance five mental health programs for immigrant

          8  populations throughout the City.

          9                 And now I would like to turn to the

         10  Mental Retardation and Developmental Disability

         11  sector.

         12                 As you are aware, the City Council

         13  has added $1.1 million to the Department's FY '99

         14  budget during the adoption process. And I am pleased

         15  to report that the Department has utilized these

         16  funds to establish ten adult weekend respite

         17  programs, five work-readiness programs and five

         18  after school respite programs.

         19                 The new adult weekends respite

         20  programs will provide services to 200 additional

         21  individuals, the five work-readiness programs will

         22  serve 60 adults at any given time, with more served

         23  as consumers move into long-term supportive

         24  employment programs.

         25                 The five after school respite
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          2  programs will serve children ages five through 12

          3  with mental retardation and/or developmental

          4  disabilities who also may have physical disabilities

          5  or behavioral problems. And it is anticipated that

          6  these programs will serve 90 additional children.

          7                 Regarding housing needs for the

          8  developmentally disabled. As I mentioned earlier,

          9  the Governor's proposed budget includes the first

         10  year of funding for the New York State CARES

         11  Program.

         12                 The Governor had announced in August

         13  this comprehensive five-year program to virtually

         14  eliminate the waiting list for residential services

         15  for people with developmental disabilities in New

         16  York State.

         17                 The plan will not only include

         18  placement opportunities for those who are currently

         19  on the waiting list, but also includes those who are

         20  expected to apply for residential placement in the

         21  future.

         22                 Over the course of five years, the

         23  plan will add a total of nearly 4,900 new community

         24  beds statewide.

         25                 In the initial phase, 3,000 beds will
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          2  be developed. The providers for the initial

          3  allocation of these beds have been selected, and New

          4  York City will receive about one-half or 1,538 beds.

          5                 In the area of substance abuse, as

          6  you know the Mayor announced in the State of the

          7  City Address that the City will seek to create a

          8  cohesive Citywide substance abuse treatment system.

          9                 Given the state's push to move toward

         10  a single chemical dependence licensure and treatment

         11  system, and away from the current dual system of

         12  separate alcoholism and drug abuse programs, it is

         13  timely to reconsider the current system of

         14  administration of these programs in the City.

         15                 Accordingly, the City expects to be

         16  working on how best to proceed in this program area,

         17  to see that the City residents who need substance

         18  abuse services receive effective and efficient

         19  treatment.

         20                 With regard to the $9.5 million for

         21  substance abuse funding allocated to the

         22  Department's budget by the City Council, as you know

         23  implementation of funding in the 1999 budget was

         24  delayed in large measure as a result of discussions

         25  between the Council and the Executive.
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          2                 I regret that the implementation of

          3  these programs has been delayed, however, I am also

          4  pleased to announce that the Department is now

          5  proceeding with oversight approval and a

          6  solicitation process.

          7                 The City Council's $1 million add-on

          8  to Fiscal Year '99 budget for alcoholism services

          9  will be used to expand alcoholism services to young

         10  people and their families. Services will include

         11  after school, adolescent and treatment programs,

         12  counseling and social services to families and

         13  alcoholism prevention, outreach and education for

         14  school-aged children.

         15                 And turning now to the Early

         16  Intervention Program, referrals from 1998 increased

         17  13 percent over the previous year, more than 8,500

         18  children were active in the Early Intervention

         19  Program in December, which represents 17 percent

         20  more than in 1997.

         21                 This remarkable surge in activity

         22  prompted early intervention to broaden its already

         23  extensive scope.

         24                 Treatment partnerships were enhanced

         25  with the development of Early Intervention Program's
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          2  Comprehensive Provider Directory for service

          3  coordinators, providers and for families.

          4                 Produced by Early Intervention staff,

          5  it includes valuable information about available

          6  services throughout the five boroughs.

          7                 Early Intervention is now translating

          8  service materials used by families into 12 languages

          9  to better meet the needs of the diverse populations

         10  that it serves, and for each year the program

         11  furthers its commitment to serving children and

         12  families in all areas of the City.

         13                 I am also pleased to report that the

         14  Department's quality assurance program in the Early

         15  Intervention area is fully operational.

         16  Comprehensive program audits of early intervention

         17  agencies conducted by a team of clinical staff of

         18  the Department, and corrective action plans are

         19  requested from providers who do not meet the

         20  standards of the Department and the State.

         21                 Under the audit protocol the

         22  Department follows up with unannounced visits to see

         23  whether the approved corrective action plan is being

         24  implemented.

         25                 In this rare instance where it is
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          2  clear that it is not, the Department has taken steps

          3  to restrict the service delivery of an agency

          4  pending further review.

          5                 This system helps to guarantee that

          6  the early intervention agencies deliver the highest

          7  level of critically needed services to this very

          8  important population.

          9                 In the spring the Department will

         10  launch new programs, three new programs, for

         11  hard-to-place youth with mental health needs. The

         12  first program offers 22 young people, 11 boys, 11

         13  girls, who were discharged from either an HHC acute

         14  inpatient unit or a state intermediate care

         15  facility, a structured congregate setting will link

         16  them to community mental health services.

         17                 The second program will be located at

         18  two congregate care facilities in Brooklyn. These

         19  facilities will provide temporary residence and

         20  assessments to evaluate each participant's medical

         21  and mental health needs as they transition to a less

         22  intensive congregate care program, and both of these

         23  programs will be administered by the Administration

         24  for Children's Services.

         25                 The third program is an adolescent
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          2  after school support services program that will be

          3  initiated in three beacon schools. Two programs will

          4  target seriously emotionally disturbed young people,

          5  between the age of 13 and 17, and the third program

          6  will serve seriously emotionally disturbed children

          7  between five and 12.

          8                 All of these programs will address a

          9  young person's social, recreational and emotional

         10  needs, foster interaction with non-emotionally

         11  disturbed peers, and provide additional support to

         12  families.

         13                 These programs will be located in

         14  Beacon Schools in Brooklyn, the Bronx and in Queens,

         15  and they will operate year-round to provide mental

         16  health assessment, treatment referral, case

         17  management and after school recreation.

         18                 And with respect to managed care, the

         19  Department is expanding its preparation for the

         20  mandatory managed care program for Medicaid

         21  recipients. We have been working with the Department

         22  of Health Division of Health Care Access, Human

         23  Resources Administration, the State Department of

         24  Health and Maximus, the enrollment broker, on

         25  training sessions for providers and consumers.
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          2                 We are providing technical assistance

          3  on behavioral health to the Department of Health's

          4  Healthcare Access Division, as it moves towards

          5  implementing the program.

          6                 And we are also working closely with

          7  the State Office of Mental Health to ensure that

          8  special needs plans for those requiring more

          9  intensive Mental Health Services, address the needs

         10  and policy of the City.

         11                 The Department has also been

         12  negotiating oversight responsibilities and reviewing

         13  budgets and service utilization in anticipation of a

         14  state start-up in 1999.

         15                 We are planning to launch a new

         16  anti-stigma initiative in the Spring, and this

         17  initiative aims to focus on the importance of

         18  employment for mentally ill New Yorkers and to use

         19  that focus as the basis of a public education

         20  campaign.

         21                 We will show positive images of

         22  mentally ill persons who work and contribute to

         23  their communities, while promoting the need for new

         24  employment opportunities. We plan to directly

         25  address the stigma that often stands between the
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          2  mentally ill and job opportunities.

          3                 That concludes my testimony, and of

          4  course we will be happy to answer any of your

          5  questions.

          6                 CO-CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you,

          7  Commissioner.

          8                 Thank you for a thorough account of

          9  your Department. But now let me ask a couple of

         10  questions on savings.

         11                 On page, on your first page, of $7.9

         12  million of savings, $4.8 million and $2.5 million

         13  are attributable to delayed start-up in substance

         14  abuse programs in the voluntary sector, and HHC

         15  respectively. Can you give us, first of all, a

         16  reason for the delay? And what you intend to do with

         17  the savings? Will it be redistributed, or where does

         18  this money go? Does it go back to the general fund?

         19  What is going on here?

         20                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STILL: I am

         21  Dan Still, First Deputy Commissioner.

         22                 The Department, as you have

         23  acknowledged and as the Chair acknowledged in the

         24  earlier hearing, there was an agreement in November,

         25  so naturally the question arises what has been the
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          2  delay in these funds. The Department then was faced

          3  with having to put together a January Plan with a

          4  large savings target, so we were left with the

          5  dilemma of whether or not to withhold allocating

          6  these funds, as opposed to cutting existing services

          7  to meet the January savings targets.

          8                 Now, fortunately it did have a happy

          9  ending. We were able to come out with a January Plan

         10  that fully restored the substance abuse funds for

         11  the Year 2000, but it did have the short-term impact

         12  of resulting in savings in the current year, and so

         13  the answer to your question is that the funds will

         14  be returned to the general fund for the current

         15  year, and we will be proceeding with our

         16  solicitations in the money in the programs between

         17  now and for the Year 2000.

         18                 CO-CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay. For the

         19  Council's initiative for substance abuse, there

         20  again I find a lot of savings.

         21                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STILL: That

         22  is what I was addressing.

         23                 CO-CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay, fine.

         24  And I find that some of the funding seems to be --

         25  how much of it went back to the general fund?
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          2                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STILL: I

          3  think it is listed in the testimony on page five

          4  that you just quoted, those two figures. Let me look

          5  it up and get the numbers correct. It's 7.9.

          6                 CO-CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: It's 7.9.

          7                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STILL: No,

          8  I am sorry, 4.8. 7.9 was the total and there were

          9  some other categories of savings.

         10                 It was 4.8 and 2.5. The sum of those

         11  numbers.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Where are you

         13  reading from, sir?

         14                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STILL: From

         15  the first page of the testimony. Third paragraph.

         16                 CO-CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay.

         17                 Then the Governor's budget --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Wait, wait, wait.

         19                 CO-CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Go ahead.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Before we move on

         21  to the Governor, let me set the tone.

         22                 Commissioner, with respect to Alcohol

         23  Services, is it fair to say that in terms of the

         24  numbers of people who are afflicted with alcohol

         25  needs, has it decreased or increased?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: I don't think

          3  anybody can answer that. But we have no reason to

          4  think that it is decreased.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And if I remember

          6  correctly at the hearing, which came about where the

          7  Council then put in money, because if I remember

          8  correctly, and I need help, the original action by

          9  the Council was what was called the Seekers Drug

         10  Initiative, and then we realized that we overlooked

         11  a very important area, that everybody recognized has

         12  not been addressed for a long time and that is

         13  Alcoholism Services.

         14                 And Madame Chair, I want you to step

         15  in because I want to make sure I understand

         16  something. We came back, and then in a fiscal year

         17  we added an additional Speaker Initiative of $1

         18  million to correct -- and whatever it was, because I

         19  am sure without the Speaker it won't go -- but the

         20  fact was that we put in money in order to address an

         21  area that we felt and you, Madame Chair,

         22  consistently raised, and you had me meet with CBOs,

         23  who said to me at a meeting, if you recall, that,

         24  one, they have not reached the Speaker's Initiative,

         25  because it wasn't included, and that there was an
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          2  area that needed to be addressed; is that fair to

          3  say, Madame Chair?

          4                 CO-CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Yes,

          5  alcoholism.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Having said that,

          7  and since you are in essence saying, well, I can't

          8  tell you whether yes or no, but you have not denied

          9  that the numbers have not gone down.

         10                 Let's go back to that $1 million

         11  appropriation to address the alcoholism problem that

         12  I still see in my community and I still see

         13  throughout the City of New York. And it is not only

         14  adults, you have a lot of young people who begin

         15  with alcohol lined up with drugs and eventually

         16  become the drug victim.

         17                 I understand that you needed to do

         18  pegs, but how was the Council's initiative selected

         19  to meet your mandated peg mandates?

         20                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Well, it is

         21  always difficult to establish -- I mean, once you go

         22  beyond some of the efficiencies and revenue

         23  enhancements that one can make, looking at a

         24  Department's core of programs, a decision is reached

         25  that it makes more sense to peg a program that has
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          2  not yet gone through the process of solicitation and

          3  implementation than to peg a program that is already

          4  in a community, is already serving individuals and

          5  that we have a much greater impact on the way the

          6  system is able to render care.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: However, is it

          8  fair to say that that initiative did not promulgate

          9  from your agency or from the Mayor?

         10                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: I don't

         11  understand the question.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Let me start

         13  again. And I apologize, maybe I need to -- well, the

         14  alcoholism initiative, the $1 million that was put

         15  into the budget, was that an initiative that came

         16  out of your agency, or the Mayor who proposes the

         17  budget?

         18                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: The City Council

         19  initiative?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Right. One more

         21  before I get to my point. And Council Member Clarke,

         22  I need you, because you can't have me sit in a room

         23  and listen to CBOs, which they told me that the

         24  reason why they came to you was because they are the

         25  providers with the same contract they had for some
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          2  time with no new infusion to meet the needs of

          3  waiting people, who would like to get into programs,

          4  and because we have not addressed it, then you and

          5  I, along with the leadership, that is how the $1

          6  million was put into the negotiated budget.

          7                 And Council Member Clarke, is that

          8  correct to say for the record?

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Except that we

         10  targeted that $1 million in alcoholism to look at

         11  young people who we saw increasingly --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Right.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: -- Using

         14  alcohol.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Commissioner,

         17  and we agreed then and there, and we discussed it at

         18  length, that this money would be targeted.

         19                 I looked at your testimony and on

         20  page five you talked about it and you said that it

         21  will expand alcoholism services to young people and

         22  their families, services will include after school.

         23                 The question is, this has been in the

         24  budget since July 1, and even during the time of

         25  negotiation you know it was there. Since November it
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          2  was not money that was altered as a result of

          3  modification, and your statement is still tentative

          4  that the services will provide, not that the

          5  services are being, and so I just want to know what

          6  is the status of the money, where are the programs?

          7  Can you identify agencies that will receive the

          8  money?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I am trying to

         10  make a point and that is why I am in essence hoping

         11  that I remember correctly, because you see, once I

         12  met with your CBOs, then you took the ball, and I

         13  want to make sure I understand what I supported.

         14                 CO-CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And let me be

         16  clear.

         17                 The $1 million that was added on in

         18  the FY '99 budget for alcohol services, between July

         19  and November I am not questioning. What I am

         20  questioning is we had a budget mod in November after

         21  the election, which now all of a sudden we became

         22  friends again.

         23                 Question: When you decided what you

         24  were going to use, after the Council member

         25  explained what our intent was, clearly I knew what
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          2  the intent was on this side, the question is: One,

          3  did you implement the intent which was why we put $1

          4  million?

          5                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: In fact we have

          6  gone forward with that funding allocation and we

          7  have identified providers to address the purpose of

          8  adding a million dollars to target adolescents and

          9  youth who are at risk, and we have a number of

         10  different program models and providers that we

         11  selected and those amendments to existing contracts

         12  are being processed and will shortly be completed.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Have there been

         14  any discussion with this chair, or this Subcommittee

         15  chair, with respect to this million dollars and how

         16  you are moving forward?

         17                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: I do recall that

         18  in prior testimony before the Health Committee we

         19  discussed in the hearing room the purpose of the

         20  allocation and what our plans were in broad stroke.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Commissioner, I

         22  am not asking that. I must say in all due respect,

         23  you know, because in fairness to me and everybody

         24  else, do you think that I remember half of what in

         25  hearings, when right now I started at 10:00, I will

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            33

          1  DEPARTMENT OF MENTAL HEALTH

          2  be here until at least 5:00, 6:00 with the public,

          3  and please, I am just trying to set the parameter

          4  because at previous hearings you made a commitment

          5  that whether you like it or you don't like it,

          6  whether I like it or I don't like it, whether Una

          7  Clarke likes it or not, that there is going to be a

          8  partnership of communication.

          9                 And my question is very simple:

         10  First, of the million dollars, since November, first

         11  budget mod, in this budget mod that we have now

         12  coming up, is there cuts? No, okay.

         13                 So, we have the full $1 million; how

         14  much of that million dollars are you actually going

         15  to contract out in this fiscal year, which ends June

         16  30th?

         17                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Well, the

         18  contracts will be in place in total for all of that

         19  amount in this Fiscal Year.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And hopefully the

         21  million dollars we spent between now and June 30th?

         22                 Let me make sure I understand now.

         23  You are saying to me that whatever the number of

         24  CBOs, that you are going to register them -- first

         25  of all, are they registered already?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: They are in the

          3  process.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: They are in the

          5  process.

          6                 Okay, how many contracts do you see

          7  that will be in place to actually move ahead with

          8  the million dollars, giving what the Council Member

          9  just said about youth, adolescents, what have you,

         10  and spend the million dollars between now and June

         11  30th, when in the fiscal year '99 that money has not

         12  been touched? Do we have an idea how many CBOs?

         13                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Yes, very clear.

         14  We have six CBOs in line, six contracts.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Six. Are they

         16  current contracts, or are they new contracts?

         17                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: These are current

         18  contracts and these will be amendments to contracts.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay.

         20                 Now, may I respectfully suggest also,

         21  henceforth, as we move forward, and I will commend

         22  your agency, it is called two to tango, and I expect

         23  communications between this Chair and your agency,

         24  not only on your budget, but on any add-ons by the

         25  Council. And as Chairman of this Committee, I have
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          2  an obligation and a responsibility to the

          3  institutions, that when - and as Council Member

          4  Clarke is dealing with this area, in fairness to her

          5  and her testimony, we will be talking and I will be

          6  jumping in every so often because decisions are

          7  being made and statements are being said for

          8  example. It is very embarrassing to me, and I won't

          9  speak for her, I will speak to myself, and I will

         10  then turn it back to you again, but I want to be

         11  clear.

         12                 On page six you say the following.

         13  After you talked about "units or state intermediate

         14  care facilities, a structured congregate setting and

         15  will link them to community mental health services.

         16  The second program will be located at two congregate

         17  care facilities in Brooklyn." Now, again, I asked

         18  the Chair, since I am from Brooklyn, I am the

         19  Chairman of this Committee, she is the Chair of the

         20  Subcommittee, she deals with this, two facilities in

         21  Brooklyn, she tells me she don't know which are the

         22  two, I got a problem with -- I am not being

         23  negative. I commend the direction your agency is

         24  going, but excuse me, I am from Brooklyn, she is

         25  from Brooklyn, was there any discussion about, oh,
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          2  by the way, you know, it is in our budget, but we

          3  are going to do the following: We selected the

          4  following two locations so that if anybody, the

          5  media, anybody asks, you know, at least with respect

          6  for Brooklyn -- you then go on to the second

          7  paragraph, and I will lay it out and I will turn it

          8  back to Una Clarke until again my feathers get

          9  ruffled and then I will step in again.

         10                 Beacons. I was the Chairman of the

         11  Youth Services Committee when there was no beacons.

         12  It started with David Dinkins, ten original beacons.

         13  Before I gave up the chairmanship of Youth Services,

         14  we had 41 beacons in place under my leadership. The

         15  Mayor proposed ten beacons, I changed it and I added

         16  23 new Beacons so we came up with 33 Beacons -

         17  excuse me. You are going to do something in mental

         18  health in Beacon schools, in Brooklyn, the Bronx and

         19  Queens, what Beacons? I am from Brooklyn. Where in

         20  Brooklyn? I am the Chairman of the Committee, it is

         21  your agency, I have oversight over you, the

         22  Subcommittee has it also; where in Queens? Where in

         23  the Bronx?

         24                 Do you understand, Commissioner,

         25  about somebody ought to get back and talk to us
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          2  before the public documents become exposed to the

          3  media and I look like a fool?

          4                 Now, there was a commitment in the

          5  past, and I also brought this to your attention,

          6  that there will be better communications. And you

          7  know something, I am taking off the kit gloves.

          8                 If you don't want to hear my mouth,

          9  then you better talk to me. You better walk with me.

         10  And I am saying this to you, Commissioner, because

         11  you are the Commissioner. And in fairness, I think I

         12  bend backwards to you, as both Commissioner of

         13  Health, I bend backwards to you as Commissioner of

         14  Mental Health, and from this day forth, if there is

         15  not a mutual partnership, then I do not need to have

         16  any relationship, I will deal with you on a

         17  one-to-one.

         18                 I will say that for the last time,

         19  because this is the last hearing that I am going to

         20  sit and have you read testimony and mention about

         21  programs, initiatives and all that stuff, and I

         22  don't even know where they are, who they are, where

         23  they are coming from.

         24                 Now, I don't know what the Chairs of

         25  the past Health Committee did, but this Chair, I am
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          2  a hands-on person and I expect that if you don't

          3  give it to me, that this Chair of the Subcommittee

          4  who oversees at least helping this Committee, your

          5  agency, when I turn to her and she tells me she

          6  doesn't know, I have a problem.

          7                 Sorry, Council Member Clarke, but I

          8  want to set the tone because the bottom line is the

          9  buck stops here. I am the Chairman of the Committee

         10  and we are dealing with a budget and we have to deal

         11  with the budget and then we don't have to make

         12  excuses why we say one thing and then all of a

         13  sudden it gets taken out of the budget.

         14                 CO-CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Then let me

         15  follow that up, Commissioner.

         16                 We also put in money in there for

         17  mental health, which was to address the needs in

         18  some immigrant communities. We also put money in

         19  there for mental retardation. If you will give me

         20  the full 2.5 that was the Council initiative, how it

         21  was spent, where it is spent, how it is broken down,

         22  so that we have a sense of -- because we identify

         23  through testimony where we think the gaps in

         24  services were, and we ask that the money be targeted

         25  at those communities, which is why we talk about
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          2  youth. It was through the hearings we did with the

          3  Youth Committee, we were specific about the

          4  communities in which there was increasing alcohol

          5  use in youth, and I thought that is where the money

          6  was going to be targeted.

          7                 So, if you will just tell us for the

          8  full Council appropriation, where it is being spent,

          9  how it is being spent, this way we can get back on

         10  track.

         11                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Well, I referred

         12  to the $250,000 that was allocated for immigrant

         13  programs, and what we did there was divide that

         14  across five programs, at $50,000 to each program.

         15  Each program was expected to serve 25 clients, and

         16  we were enhancing their current immigrant program,

         17  largely to reach out into the high schools to

         18  address the needs of the older adolescent

         19  population. And those agencies across the boroughs

         20  included Fordham Tremont in the Bronx, Alianza

         21  Dominicana in Northern Manhattan, Queens Child

         22  Guidance in Queens, the Jewish Board for Family

         23  Children's Services, for Russian Immigrants in

         24  Brooklyn, the Haitian Community Health for Caribbean

         25  Immigrants, those were the five programs.
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          2                 CO-CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Having said

          3  that, can you tell me how much of this total

          4  allocation you expect to spend by June 30th, one, or

          5  do we expect to have another budget mod where the

          6  money will be taken out? Is there some plan to use

          7  the money March, April, May and June? Can you tell

          8  us how much of that allocation will be used?

          9                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: It is our

         10  expectation that we would spend the entire

         11  allocation by June 30th of this year.

         12                 CO-CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Are the

         13  agencies now funded made aware that this is what

         14  will be done and that is what is expected?

         15                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Yes, they are.

         16                 CO-CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay.

         17                 On the New York New York II and the

         18  Housing, can you tell me where we are with the

         19  Governor and negotiation? Are there any assurances?

         20  Are there some negotiations going on?

         21                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: As you know,

         22  Councilwoman, the city has appropriately taken a

         23  very proactive position with respect to advocacy for

         24  developing a new New York New York development

         25  program for the seriously mentally ill, and we have
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          2  been frustrated, as you noted, that the additional

          3  appropriation did not appear in the Governor's

          4  budget beyond $40 million in capital and $5.7

          5  million in program which we felt does a disservice

          6  or leaves the program to come up short from what had

          7  been in our view a more respectable number of beds

          8  that we felt were needed to be developed.

          9                 In order to develop housing for the

         10  mentally ill, as you know, not only is capital

         11  funding required, but also funding for ongoing

         12  mental health support services, as well as for

         13  rental subsidies, and without these operating

         14  subsidies in place, it becomes nearly impossible to

         15  ensure the long-term viability of these housing

         16  units for the population that they are intended to

         17  serve.

         18                 I can tell you that Dr. Rosa Gil, the

         19  Mayor's Health Policy Advisor, has gone to Albany on

         20  several occasions and has been lobbying the

         21  Governor's office and the legislature. I have gone

         22  on two occasions, as has my counterparts at the

         23  Department of Homeless Services and HRA. We were

         24  disappointed that the Governor did not recognize

         25  this as a priority, and particularly, you know,
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          2  seeing how strong the New York State CARES Program

          3  would address the needs of a population of

          4  individuals who were mentally disabled because of

          5  mental retardation and developmental disabilities,

          6  and we think that is really an outstanding

          7  opportunity to serve a sector that very much will

          8  benefit from this community program and residential

          9  support to see so little attention paid to the

         10  community of people with serious mental illness and

         11  to address their needs to live in the community by

         12  having housing and the correct support structures

         13  has been very frustrating for us and for our

         14  colleagues in the Council like yourself.

         15                 So, I know that Dr. Gil is going up

         16  to Albany next Monday and with the purpose of

         17  advocacy for the program and we encourage you to

         18  reach out to your colleagues in the legislature to

         19  move forward to bring pressure in the right places

         20  to bring this program to fruition.

         21                 CO-CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: On the issue

         22  of the shared staff, what happens when those

         23  positions are taking out? Will it be mandatory for

         24  the City to pick up those staff persons? What

         25  services did they provide and how did it provide the
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          2  continuum of care? What will it cost the City?

          3                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: We are actually

          4  -- you know, we are collecting data on the exact

          5  positions that are impacted by this proposal. We

          6  know, for example, that at Bellevue Hospital and

          7  Gouverneur there are a number of shared staff who

          8  are involved in the comprehensive psychiatric

          9  emergency program and the mobile outreach team and

         10  we believe from other information we received that

         11  indeed these positions are vital to the furthering

         12  of community mental health services in the City.

         13                 We would encourage the Governor and

         14  the Legislature to rethink this proposal so that the

         15  approximately $1.4 million that it would cost the

         16  City to buy back these positions could be better

         17  spent in creating new services that are certainly

         18  needed as well.

         19                 We hope that we are not going to be

         20  in this Sophie's Choice situation in the future

         21  where we have to choose between existing services

         22  and new program services that we might have to

         23  consider for reinvestment funding. That decision

         24  hasn't been reached by us yet and we hope the

         25  Governor's Office will reconsider their position as
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          2  the budget process goes forward.

          3                 CO-CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: What would you

          4  be asking the Council, if we are a partner with you,

          5  what should we be doing, in terms of these

          6  positions?

          7                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: This money

          8  hopefully will be restored in the State budget to

          9  the full amount and statewide was $11 million, so we

         10  would very much welcome your advocacy with your

         11  state colleagues.

         12                 CO-CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And after we do

         14  that, when whatever share comes to the City of New

         15  York, will there be a dialogue between your agency

         16  and us, since we have joined this partnership?

         17                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Well, these are

         18  for positions that currently exist, so we are trying

         19  to save jobs and save services without having to use

         20  new money that would come from the state to buy back

         21  those services.

         22                 With regard to the new allocations,

         23  the Community Reinvestment Act, we have forwarded to

         24  your offices in the last few days, I hope you have

         25  seen them, if not, you will surely be seeing them,
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          2  announcements regarding public hearings in the

          3  boroughs. And we welcome the public to give us a

          4  representation of those gaps and services that we

          5  need to address so that we can have a lot of

          6  consumer and community input into developing a plan

          7  for next year.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And since I did

          9  see that, my question -- and I see that one of the

         10  places that you will hold your hearing is I believe

         11  at Woodhull Hospital, if I remember correctly, if I

         12  see the list, unless I am wrong; is that correct?

         13                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: That's correct.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: That listing

         15  besides us, have you also included the 59 community

         16  boards? And the school boards.

         17                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: No one should say

         19  that they were not informed and hopefully when we

         20  have the Brooklyn hearings at Woodhull Hospital,

         21  that those who reap from these services, including

         22  the Board of Education and others who have a

         23  tendency of "give me" but they are not the first

         24  ones out there helping Council Member Clarke and

         25  everybody else in terms of, you know, securing that
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          2  we should not see -- we should see a coming together

          3  of the family of mental health, in order to address

          4  this issue?

          5                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Yes, indeed. We

          6  are -- approximately 5,000 notices are going out, so

          7  we are touching all of the bases that you referred

          8  to.

          9                 And I agree with you, and I share

         10  your frustration, in times when individuals come to

         11  us at a particular point in time of the year when we

         12  have already made our decisions or allocations and

         13  our planning, and I encourage them to participate in

         14  the process with us so that we can get their ideas

         15  on the planning agenda, if you will, and be able to

         16  make informed decisions about how best to spend new

         17  resources.

         18                 CO-CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay. Then

         19  again, in the budget from the Governor includes

         20  $24.6 million for 980 beds for the first year of the

         21  housing initiative; is the 980 beds New York City

         22  beds, or is it statewide beds?

         23                 If not, what is the waiting list like

         24  in terms of beds that are needed? Are we just

         25  scratching the surface, or is this adequate?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: That is a

          3  statewide figure. The allocation to New York City in

          4  the initial first year of the program give us about

          5  51 percent of all of the beds that are going to be

          6  developed.

          7                 I can only tell you that based on my

          8  participation, and we have shared the platform at

          9  the Manhattan legislative breakfast last week for

         10  the MRDD community, and as you know this Friday

         11  there is a legislative breakfast in Brooklyn Borough

         12  Hall, the community has the sense that this is a

         13  very significant program, and if it is carried out

         14  as promised, will very well address what the need is

         15  in the community to have these residential sites

         16  developed and support services.

         17                 You know, the feedback we get is that

         18  this is going to be a major accomplishment.

         19                 CO-CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Mr. Chairman,

         20  you had another question you wanted to ask?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I just wanted to

         22  go back to, and again it is just to understand

         23  between this year and next year.

         24                 Let's go back to the $1 million

         25  initiative which is alcohol, and what you said to me
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          2  that all they will spend -- and I really need to

          3  understand how is it we have a budget mod coming up

          4  for the second time which takes out a lot of the

          5  accrued monies of what we appropriate in the budget,

          6  because of the disagreement between the

          7  Administration and the Council from July until

          8  November, now we have a second budget mod that goes

          9  from November to whatever it is, which pulls out

         10  more money; explain to me how $1 million, of which

         11  around here, when I first came here, boy, if I got

         12  $100,000, that was a lot of money, and around here

         13  you cut here and you cut there and you talk about

         14  two and three million and that is peanuts, explain

         15  to me how are these programs or these current

         16  programs and their budgets being amended, if you are

         17  telling me that they are current programs, how are

         18  they going to spend $1 million between now and June

         19  30th, when all we do in budget mods is take out

         20  money that has been accrued because it has not been

         21  spent?

         22                 And I am still baffled how we can

         23  spend a million dollars between March and June, yet

         24  I get budget mods that says, well, the CBOs didn't

         25  spend it between July and November, and because they
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          2  didn't spend it, we are taking the money out of

          3  there.

          4                 So, I am still a little hazy on the

          5  million dollars which is for alcohol services.

          6                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STILL:

          7  Okay, Councilman, on the alcoholism allocation of $1

          8  million, the savings that you see in the January

          9  Plan of accruals do not assume any savings from that

         10  million dollars. They do, as I said earlier, and as

         11  you observed, assume some savings in the substance

         12  abuse initiated. But we did proceed with the

         13  allocation of a million dollars in substance abuse

         14  programs after November and are implementing them.

         15                 You may be correct that in fact even

         16  though some of these contract amendments are going

         17  to be retroactive, that in fact not all of this

         18  million dollars will be spent, but we are making the

         19  opportunity possible for it to be spent in this

         20  case.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: What do you

         22  anticipate given -- and I am sure you must be around

         23  for awhile, I know your face is common, and since

         24  you are a professional and since this agency is a

         25  professional agency, and given your history, what do
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          2  you anticipate what will be spent and what, maybe

          3  some time between now and May, that is when we have

          4  the next budget mod, maybe around May, May, June,

          5  how much do you think will not be spent?

          6                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STILL:

          7  Well, we do have start-up money in there for new

          8  programs so that we anticipate approximately 75

          9  percent will be spent.

         10                 But we are allowing the opportunity

         11  for it all to be spent, if it can be done by the

         12  agency acknowledging the delays.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Let me go into

         14  then this other area, which is the substance abuse,

         15  which is the Council's initiative.

         16                 In Fiscal Year '98, there was 4.75

         17  million in that budget for that purpose, and I

         18  believe that that money was not used in that fiscal

         19  year; is that correct?

         20                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STILL: Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: That money then

         22  was -- and I am told that this money, although in

         23  the Fiscal Year '98 was never taken out of your

         24  agency in a budget mod; is that correct?

         25                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STILL: I
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          2  believe you are correct.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: What did you do

          4  with the money?

          5                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STILL: The

          6  money accrued, and although it was not taken out, it

          7  was not spent. And as I said earlier --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Commissioner,

          9  please. I know I am a lame duck, as they refer to

         10  me, but I am not a dead duck.

         11                 This is expense money, correct?

         12                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STILL: Yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And unless

         14  someone shows me, I am told that expense money

         15  cannot be rolled over.

         16                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STILL:

         17  Correct.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And when the

         19  Comptroller closed his books at the end of Fiscal

         20  Year, sometime in October of next fiscal year, here

         21  is my question:

         22                 $4.75 million was put into your

         23  budget as a Council, as the Speaker's Drug

         24  Initiative, which you are saying to me that money

         25  was never spent. That is what you said to me?
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          2                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STILL: Yes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Where did that

          4  money go? Because I am told that nowhere in Fiscal

          5  Year '98 was there a budget mod that took the money

          6  out of your agency.

          7                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STILL: By

          8  the time we developed our plan, the adoption process

          9  for the '99 budget had been initiated and the money

         10  was on hold, so the money went back to the general

         11  fund.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: So you never used

         13  the money.

         14                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STILL:

         15  That's correct.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Well, they didn't

         17  do a mod, because apparently they were not going to

         18  move in the program. I mean, is that fair to say?

         19                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STILL: I

         20  don't know if that is the reason or not.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay. Then I want

         22  to be clear for the record.

         23                 So, your agency had $4.75 million for

         24  the purpose of substance abuse initiatives which the

         25  Council put in there, and in that fiscal year you
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          2  did not use it at all, and because you didn't use

          3  it, and I thought there was discussions and I

          4  thought there was an understanding, the fact is that

          5  during that fiscal year the money was lost; is that

          6  correct?

          7                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STILL: Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Fiscal Year '99,

          9  it's this year, was that money put into -- and let

         10  me set the record straight, was it put into the

         11  Council's budget that we voted on in June?

         12                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STILL: Yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And because there

         14  was a disagreement between the Mayor and the

         15  Council, between July and November, correct? So far

         16  so good. That money is in the budget, correct?

         17                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STILL: Yes,

         18  correct.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: We had a budget

         20  mod in November, part of the budget mod was an

         21  understanding and an agreement now that money can be

         22  released?

         23                 The Speaker's Initiative, the

         24  substance abuse initiative, the question is: In the

         25  November Budget mod, part of the negotiation to move
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          2  forward that budget mod, was the Council's -- I am

          3  sorry, the Speaker's Drug Initiative part of that

          4  budget mod?

          5                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STILL: Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: How much of that

          7  was taken out? How much of that was put back in?

          8                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STILL: In

          9  the November plan the funds were there, but as I

         10  indicated earlier, we were faced with preparing the

         11  January Plan and the money was again targeted for a

         12  possible peg rather than having the reduced current

         13  services.

         14                 Now, as it turned out, we didn't have

         15  to do that.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Well, you didn't

         17  have to do that because apparently for the Year 2000

         18  that is what you are talking about. But I am still

         19  in Fiscal Year '96 and again I argue not to you,

         20  First Deputy Commissioner, but the Commissioner.

         21                 Forget about Council Initiative, this

         22  was the Speaker's Initiative. My question was: Was

         23  there any discussion with the Speaker's Office, if

         24  you don't want to go through me, to say, oh, by the

         25  way, we have a peg that we have to fulfill and we
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          2  are taking $2.6 million out as the cut in order to

          3  satisfy the Administration on their pegs. Was there

          4  any discussions?

          5                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: No. But we

          6  generally make a practice of when we need to develop

          7  a peg program, to focus on an allocation that has

          8  not yet been translated into a service delivery

          9  program that will adversely impact on clients who

         10  are presently being served and would prefer to use a

         11  program that has not yet come -- has not yet come

         12  into fruition.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Now, let me

         14  again, and I am trying to make sure that I am fair

         15  to you, and I am going to, for the record, and I

         16  know this mic, there are people who put little

         17  things on and they listen to everything you say, so

         18  I want to be clear.

         19                 This Speaker Initiative, when we

         20  passed it in June of Fiscal Year '99, and when we

         21  did the budget mod in November, was that money in

         22  your agency?

         23                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Yes, it was.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Well, let me tell

         25  you what I am going to say henceforth, as the
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          2  Chairman of this Committee, and I believe my

          3  colleague will join me, because we come from the

          4  same borough, and you know, I love the 40th, but I

          5  also love the 44th, and we are going to tango

          6  together. You know, we bring the best in us, we

          7  bring color to this place.

          8                 I am the Chairman of this Committee,

          9  so is she of the Subcommittee, whether the Council

         10  or the Speaker initiates a program, the following

         11  through and carrying out to make sure that whatever

         12  we did in the budget then gets put in my lap and I

         13  put it in her lap as the Chair of the Subcommittee,

         14  and we are responsible to monitor and make sure that

         15  whatever we did gets done within the Fiscal Year.

         16                 So whatever the past was, and I said

         17  to you, I can only speak to you from the time I took

         18  over as Chair of this Committee on Health, I wasn't

         19  happy and satisfied with the direction this

         20  Committee was moving, and accountability. See, I

         21  can't hold you accountable when I don't feel

         22  comfortable over here, and I am prepared to make

         23  this place comfortable for me. But I am not going to

         24  give up my right as the Chairman of the Committee

         25  and whoever is listening, if you don't like the way
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          2  I operate, then call me and tell me I think you

          3  should move on. But so long as I am the Chairman of

          4  this Committee, and we put into the budget items

          5  that the Council initiated, whether as Speaker or

          6  Council, then I repeat to you, henceforth, whatever

          7  you decide to do, it doesn't mean that I agree with

          8  you, it doesn't mean you can't do it, but I don't

          9  need to be called into the carpet in public meetings

         10  to find out for the first time that an action was

         11  taken, when I have been the chairman of this

         12  Committee since January of last year, and I am not

         13  aware that this happened.

         14                 So, may I respectfully suggest, from

         15  now on, starting with Fiscal Year '99, and now we

         16  are going to the Year 2000, that anything you do

         17  that changes whatever we agreed upon, because what I

         18  am frustrated with is that not only a budget gets

         19  negotiated, and I understand that we did not

         20  negotiate or we tried to, but we didn't have a

         21  mutual agreement when he passed it in June, so July

         22  til November I knew nothing was going to happen, you

         23  didn't see me knock on your door saying CBOs are

         24  hurting, right, Commissioner? And even the other hat

         25  as the Department of Health, did I come to you? No,
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          2  right? Okay. And we have the Asthma Initiative and

          3  all of that stuff, and I waited until after November

          4  to then call you and say, okay, now that we are

          5  friends again, how fast are we moving on these

          6  contracts? Do you remember that discussion? And yet,

          7  I must tell you, I have not been convinced when you

          8  came here before that even those four that we are

          9  talking about, while I appreciate -- they are close,

         10  they are close to the Comptroller to be registered.

         11  Council Member Clarke is trying to find out how many

         12  of the CBOs and the mental health side, how many of

         13  their contracts are registered and she hasn't had an

         14  answer yet.

         15                 So, may I suggest that whether I like

         16  it or not, whether she likes it or not, that we know

         17  this?

         18                 Now, from the two point -- what is

         19  left? What is left in the budget after they took out

         20  2.6? 9.5? Of the 9.5 on the Speaker's substance

         21  abuse initiative, 9.5, how much of that is going to

         22  be spent between now and June 30th?

         23                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STILL: We

         24  hope to spend up to $2.4 million of that amount.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Excuse me?
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          2                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STILL: We

          3  hope to spend approximately $2.4 million of it.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Because of the

          5  9.5, there is a budget mod right now that is coming

          6  before this Council which takes out an additional

          7  cut of 4.7, is that fair to say?

          8                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STILL: Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: So, while we

         10  started with 9.5, we finally will wind up -- we are

         11  finally going to come out with a round figure of

         12  about 2.2; is that correct to say?

         13                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STILL:

         14  Approximately, yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Of the 2.2, are

         16  we spending the 2.2 before June 30th?

         17                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: That's our plan,

         18  yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: That's your plan.

         20  And you are going to spend it and based upon what,

         21  sir? Based upon CBOs?

         22                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STILL:

         23  Based on the remaining time in the year and the

         24  progress in implementing our plan, acknowledging

         25  that it was delayed and implementation.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            60

          1  DEPARTMENT OF MENTAL HEALTH

          2                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Now, let me make

          3  sure I understand.

          4                 1.8 of that money is going to HHC; is

          5  that correct?

          6                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STILL: I

          7  think approximately 2 million is going to HHC.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Give or take,

          9  what the heck. One million, two million, whatever it

         10  is. Half of that is going to HHC, correct?

         11                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STILL:

         12  Correct.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: So with HHC,

         14  since you have the structure, I believe, have you

         15  already signed off on this?

         16                 I mean, we are going to do a budget

         17  mod, correct?

         18                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STILL: Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Which will be

         20  within the next two weeks?

         21                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STILL: Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: So even at the

         23  end of this month, at least HHC, and those programs

         24  should be up and running, so we should see 1.8 spent

         25  by HHC before June 30th, is that fair to say?
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          2                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STILL: Yes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Do we have an

          4  idea of what hospitals within HHC will have these

          5  programs?

          6                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STILL: Yes,

          7  I think we do.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Good.

          9                 Can you provide this chair and this

         10  chair with that copy? Good.

         11                 Now we have the other side that is

         12  left, which I am assuming is CBOs. That is how much?

         13                 MR. MAQUBELA: $200,000.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: $200,000. Is that

         15  going to be one contract?

         16                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STILL: Yes,

         17  it is one contract and we anticipate getting that in

         18  place prior to the end of the year, but it may not

         19  all be expended.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: No, wait a second

         21  now. When you say the end of the year, now you are

         22  talking about the fiscal year?

         23                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STILL:

         24  Fiscal year.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Or are you
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          2  talking about the calendar?

          3                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STILL:

          4  Fiscal year.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Then what do we

          6  do? I thought we agreed -- folks, let me tell you

          7  something, Finance, I am not voting on any budget

          8  mod that takes out that money, if they cannot spend

          9  the $200,000 before the end of the fiscal year.

         10                 And when I vote on the budget and she

         11  votes on the budget at the end of this month, I

         12  thought it was supposed to be an understanding that

         13  they are ready to go up and running, and with all

         14  due respect, although I am not happy with $200,000,

         15  why can't you not spend that $200,000 before the end

         16  of the year, fiscal year?

         17                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STILL: No,

         18  I said we intend to spend it.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: When do you

         20  expect to put the contract out for that CBO? Is that

         21  going to be a sole source?

         22                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STILL: I

         23  think it is a sole source.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: So, you already

         25  have, you at least know what group is going to do
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          2  it, correct?

          3                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STILL: Yes,

          4  and it is being processed.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Do we know what

          6  group it is? Do you know what group it is?

          7                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STILL: Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And since I don't

          9  want to say it publicly now, would you provide this

         10  Chair with what the group is?

         11                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STILL: Yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Good. And then

         13  hopefully by, if nothing else, by April 1, I am

         14  assuming that between April 1 and June 30th this

         15  group should spend $200,000; is that what you are

         16  saying?

         17                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STILL: Yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you.

         19                 CO-CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: You know,

         20  Assistant Commissioner Still, I have always had

         21  respect for DMH and for the work that it does. I

         22  think that your agency, like everybody else, is

         23  caught up in this big deceit around here - let's

         24  shake hands as gentle people and respectful people.

         25  The war is over and we can now spend the budget.
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          2  Yet, in my mind we are no better off than when the

          3  war was on and the money impounded, because although

          4  you pretend that the money is not impounded, the way

          5  in which the budget mods have come, fast and far, it

          6  meant that the money was not intended to be spent

          7  even after a respectful shake of the hand between

          8  the Mayor and the Speaker, and for that I am very,

          9  very burdened, because after having listened to the

         10  Mental Health community, have meetings in different

         11  boroughs, have different constituent groups come to

         12  me, showing me where the needs were, to hear now

         13  that the money cannot be spent by the end of the

         14  Fiscal Year kind of gives me a real awful feeling in

         15  the stomach, that the most vulnerable of the

         16  vulnerables in the City, when we go out and advocate

         17  for them, work on their behalf, an agency that

         18  heretofore, an agency that heretofore was out there

         19  to make sure that this vulnerable population

         20  received the services, now are caught up in the war

         21  and they won't be served. Now I think that that is a

         22  shame. And for me, I feel very, very badly about it.

         23                 Having said that, let me just look at

         24  this figure here that the Department of Mental

         25  Health, Mental Retardation, Alcoholism Services,
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          2  Department funding to HHC in FY '99, it says that

          3  they will get a total of some 64 million or almost

          4  65; can you tell me, how do you, once that money

          5  goes over there, how does the Department of Health

          6  monitor the performance of HHC to make so these

          7  services are provided, especially in desperate

          8  communities that HHC serves?

          9                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: We carry out

         10  program and fiscal audits, as we do to the voluntary

         11  sector, particularly those multi-program contracts

         12  are -- all the program components are audited in a

         13  three-year cycle, and we receive expenditure reports

         14  from HHC on a quarterly   basis, as well as levels

         15  of service reports from HHC on a monthly basis. So,

         16  we believe that we have the appropriate level of

         17  accountability and oversight of the dollars that go

         18  for Mental Hygiene Services.

         19                 CO-CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay.

         20                 Then for the Fiscal '99, all of the

         21  funding, and the contracts especially in the

         22  voluntary area, that will be reduced, can you tell

         23  me how many contracts are being affected by the

         24  reduction?

         25                 Historically each year when we look
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          2  at the budget there is always money left in the

          3  voluntary sector which seems to be a chronic kind of

          4  situation that they never, ever spend their budget,

          5  and therefore when audits are done you already get

          6  back in the general fund a lot of money from the

          7  voluntary agencies.

          8                 I asked the first year I became the

          9  Chair for closer monitoring and a closer working

         10  with those voluntaries, to make sure that the

         11  service gets out into the community and to those who

         12  need that. Are we doing any better on those audits?

         13                 I would imagine if somebody gets $3

         14  million for 12 months, that anybody who can divide

         15  that into 12 know how much their average spending

         16  for month needs to be, both in PS and OTPS, is your

         17  agency giving any guidance?

         18                 I am asking that question because you

         19  know we just did this oversight on outpatient

         20  psychiatric centers, trying to find out where the

         21  gaps are, and if those very agencies that we are

         22  depending on have to return dollars, it means that

         23  you are doing something wrong and they are doing

         24  something wrong. Is there any new movement?

         25                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Well, I think we
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          2  are doing a good job with respect to the technical

          3  assistance and oversight that we offer because in

          4  fact, in the current budget year, the $500,000

          5  accrual represents only 0.7 percent, so that is less

          6  than one percent of the Department's overall budget

          7  for the voluntary sector in mental health. This is

          8  exclusive of the reinvestment funding stream which

          9  involve program development and bringing technical

         10  assistance and developing scopes and so those are

         11  totally new programs. But with respect to existing

         12  services we are very conscientious in being able to

         13  make sure that the dollars are spent and in the

         14  community for the purposes that the programs are

         15  designed.

         16                 CO-CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: My final

         17  question is around Riker's Island that has become

         18  the new mental hospital for people who are homeless

         19  and mentally ill and who for many reasons commit

         20  most times quality of life crimes. We talked about

         21  how to better provide housing, with continuum of

         22  care for that population; do you have a plan and is

         23  there anything you can present to us as we go

         24  towards this budget that will make that system a lot

         25  more seemless as people leave jails and get out into
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          2  the community in terms of community mental health.?

          3                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: We have focused a

          4  lot of our attention and our resources, new

          5  resources, on addressing the needs of people who are

          6  seriously mentally ill and are winding up in the

          7  criminal justice system. As you recall, when I

          8  testified recently at the Subcommittee hearing on

          9  outpatient services, I described a large number of

         10  new services that are on line and are continuing to

         11  be developed to link individuals who are being

         12  brought to Riker's Island or the borough detention

         13  centers so that we can make sure, and historically

         14  unfortunately it takes six times longer to have

         15  those cases adjudicated than it does a non-mentally

         16  ill offender, so we have through what we call New

         17  York City Link, which was an initiative of several

         18  years ago, continued to expand the Link Program, to

         19  make sure that we are doing good discharge planning

         20  from the correction facilities and that we

         21  transition them to -- from the discharge planner to

         22  a transitional case manager to make sure that they

         23  connect and stick to the discharge plan and get

         24  connected to the community-based care that they

         25  require.
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          2                 Very recently now, we are in the most

          3  recent year four reinvestment plan, we have funded

          4  an assertive community treatment team, so we can

          5  make sure that those individuals who might get lost

          6  in the system can be followed, particularly those

          7  who are at highest risk. We are putting forward a

          8  program which we believe the State Commissioner will

          9  support, the performance pool, that will provide an

         10  alternative to incarceration for non-violent

         11  mentally ill offenders, and we hope to do that in an

         12  arraignment court in Brooklyn.

         13                 In fact, I think that is a very

         14  important first step for us, in recognizing that

         15  unfortunately too many individuals who are falling

         16  into the gaps of the system that has historically

         17  plagued us end up in the criminal justice side.

         18                 So, we are very committed to

         19  recognizing that this is a population that in a

         20  previous era would have been in the institutions

         21  that the State is now downsizing, and that we need

         22  to be very creative and committed to establishing

         23  and allocating these new resources to address that

         24  population.

         25                 So, we will continue to focus on that

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            70

          1  DEPARTMENT OF MENTAL HEALTH

          2  population in the coming two and a half years of

          3  reinvestment to make sure that there is a good

          4  continuum of care, as well as residential services,

          5  because one of our homeless mica program allocations

          6  are for also individuals who are being released from

          7  criminal justice.

          8                 CO-CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: And we would

          9  like, we are coming to budget time and I would like

         10  to hear dollars and cents figure.

         11                 And then finally, for the homeless,

         12  mentally ill, I had requested even before

         13  Commissioner Gordon Campbell left, that some money

         14  from homelessness be allocated toward housing of the

         15  homeless mentally ill, because in a sense you have

         16  them as homeless first, rather than mentally ill,

         17  and I think to keep them in the shelter and not

         18  provide them supportive housing is a real shame. And

         19  then also, it is my understanding that HPD has some

         20  $85 million, Commissioner? I understand that HPD has

         21  some money which is federal dollars that could be

         22  allocated and used towards homeless mentally ill. If

         23  I am wrong you will tell me I am wrong, but also I

         24  knew from discussion that you could get housing

         25  money from homelessness in order to provide housing,
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          2  the homeless mentally ill, especially those who are

          3  chemical abusers; are we making any progress? And if

          4  so, how much money do we have, and how many people

          5  we intend to house?

          6                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Well, I think a

          7  proper response has some layers to it, but I will

          8  let you know that --

          9                 CO-CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay.

         10                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: In our own

         11  reinvestment plan in the first five years, we have

         12  committed $22 million to create housing

         13  opportunities for homeless people who have mental

         14  disabilities, or dual diagnosis, and that is

         15  approximately 76 programs that didn't exist just

         16  five years ago.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And that money is

         18  in your budget, correct, Commissioner?

         19                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: That's correct.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Now, I think the

         21  Councilwoman talked about another agency called HPD

         22  that taps into federal funds, and I think I would

         23  like to hear that layer. Because I don't think she

         24  is necessarily speaking at this point on your

         25  agency. She is talking about that there are other
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          2  monies that can be used for housing homeless mental

          3  ill and if it is true there is money in HPD.

          4                 See, my problem is, and as you know

          5  you and I have spoken before, you and I wear two

          6  hats, one is the Commissioner of Health, which I

          7  repeat, look at the Charter, it clearly spells out

          8  what the role of the Commissioner of Health is. You

          9  are supposed to be the lead health officer, to lead

         10  and give direction on health. Now, you are also then

         11  the Commissioner of Mental Health, so that you also

         12  as the Commissioner set the tone, not only for your

         13  agency, but the other agencies that may have, I

         14  don't want to say step upon, but take HPD, that they

         15  have money to build housing, and in the cases for

         16  housing for homeless mentally, then I think as the

         17  Commissioner you have an obligation as the

         18  Commissioner, since you are the advocate to address

         19  the question, and that is why I want to hear that.

         20                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STILL: I

         21  would like to try to respond to the specific

         22  question about the HPD allocation, which I think is

         23  accurately quoted as $85 million.

         24                 It is a portion of this funding,

         25  which I believe is 51 million, that has been set
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          2  aside by the City for capital investment for a

          3  second New York New York program, and that would

          4  provide the funding for approximately 500 to 600 new

          5  capital units of housing that we would like to go

          6  ahead with.

          7                 Now, as we indicated earlier in the

          8  testimony today, we have not resolved all of the

          9  problems in the State portion of that funding to go

         10  ahead, but the money is maintained in the City

         11  budget, and we are optimistic we are ultimately

         12  going to work those problems out and proceed with

         13  this funding.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay.

         15                 CO-CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: And from the

         16  Department of Homeless Services, they also get money

         17  although it is for temporary shelter, the mentally

         18  ill is not temporary so I want to find out, can

         19  there be some negotiation that some part of the

         20  their budget goes towards supportive housing for the

         21  homeless mentally ill? There must be a creative way,

         22  there must be some creative way, because I know how

         23  creative this administration has been when it wants

         24  to be created, but when it is creating for those who

         25  we see as the most vulnerable, it seems as though
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          2  our creativity dies.

          3                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STILL: In

          4  the case of the Department of Homeless Services, the

          5  actual pattern we followed is that that Department

          6  has made funding available for supportive housing,

          7  however, the Department has used reinvestment money

          8  to provide support services, whereas the Department

          9  of Homeless Services provides the housing money per

         10  se.

         11                 So we haven't been in a partnership

         12  with them, but I think it has really been more of a

         13  matter of the Department using reinvestment funding

         14  to contribute to their housing money to operate

         15  these programs.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Commissioner,

         17  will you do me a favor? And again, this is an area

         18  that I rely upon Council Member Clarke, but as the

         19  Chair I take full responsibility to educate myself

         20  and to be at least knowledgeable so that I don't sit

         21  here and then pick up.

         22                 Since we are getting a new

         23  Commissioner of the Department of Homeless Services,

         24  since we have the same Commissioner at HPD, can you

         25  please help me, and you as the Commissioner of
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          2  Mental Health, give me a talk -- what do they call

          3  that, a fact sheet, of all of the areas that mental

          4  health can play a role, whether it is housing, all

          5  of the things that Council Member Clarke said? And

          6  then maybe we should have a roundtable discussion

          7  with all of those commissioners. As a matter of

          8  fact, not roundtable. I will have an oversight,

          9  joint oversight, where we bring all of the

         10  Commissioners in at the same table, and let's walk

         11  through all of what is in their budget, what is this

         12  partnership, this networking, this coordination and

         13  maybe we will get a handle of it. And rather than

         14  having you as Commissioner Neal Cohen, while

         15  Commissioner Roberts came to the hearings, and I

         16  must tell you that was not raised at the hearing.

         17  Now that we are getting Marty Oesterreich, who I

         18  have tremendous respect for, because I worked with

         19  him when he was Commissioner of Youth Services and I

         20  was Chairman of the Youth Services Committee -- as

         21  of Monday he is the new Commissioner of the

         22  Department of Homeless Services -- maybe we should

         23  bring in Marty, and this way we will get a clear

         24  picture of coordination.

         25                 Because, see, this chair, when he was
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          2  chairman of Youth Services, legislatively created

          3  was is called the Interagency Coordinating Council,

          4  to identify in that area which agency had youth

          5  components, and we identified 14 City agencies

          6  within their budgets have some kind of budget, unit

          7  of appropriations, for youth service. Maybe we need

          8  to look at, an I am prepared and you can join me, in

          9  legislatively in the Committee on Health legislate a

         10  similar Interagency Coordinating Council where we

         11  will coordinate all of the agencies that have health

         12  services related. And since we will not designate

         13  Commissioner Neal Cohen, because my experience was

         14  when we designated the Commissioner of Youth

         15  Services, all hell broke loose, we will designate

         16  the Mayor to preside over that Interagency Council.

         17  And since I know he is very busy, and this is not

         18  being a joke, folks, I am being serious, he is very

         19  busy, then let him designate like he did with the

         20  ICC, the Deputy Mayor for Human Services and

         21  Education because of youth and education, Ninfa

         22  Segarra, maybe he will designate a deputy

         23  commissioner.

         24                 Who do you report to in terms of

         25  Deputy Commissioners (sic).
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          2                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Deputy Mayor

          3  Lhota.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: My good friend. I

          5  would love to work with him for the next three

          6  years, and let's see which one of us who has that

          7  Latin temper get the best of us.

          8                 So, maybe we should do the same thing

          9  with -- you want to merge? Maybe we should look at

         10  an Interagency Coordinating Council for health

         11  services, how is that? I am saying, folks, you talk

         12  about creative> Well, you were part of that

         13  legislation, and I must tell you that we are not

         14  getting the same kind of complaints and lack of

         15  information from youth service agencies because of

         16  we have identified -- and you are part of it, aren't

         17  you, Commissioner, the ICC?

         18                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Yes. Well, maybe

         20  we should create the same thing with health

         21  services. And we combine both, not merge, but

         22  combine the Department of Health, HHC, as

         23  independent as you are, we will find a way of

         24  getting you involved, you know, mental health and

         25  maybe we should do the same thing.
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          2                 Now, are you finished?

          3                 CO-CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Good.

          5                 Now, let me first share with you my

          6  concerns. My concern is that we have less than

          7  $200,000, and I am not convinced that we are going

          8  to spend it between now and June 30th.

          9                 In the plan that is proposed by the

         10  Mayor, although he took out the million dollars I

         11  believe in the alcohol, is that part of the list,

         12  the hit list? The million dollars for alcohol

         13  services?

         14                 MR. MAQUBELA: It is still there.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: It is still

         16  there.

         17                 Let me praise the Mayor for keeping

         18  in his plan the $1 million, so I don't have to worry

         19  about and you don't have to worry about putting it

         20  back, for alcohol services. And since we are dealing

         21  with adolescents, just remember, don't let any

         22  Council Member sign off, I am the Chairman, okay?

         23                 And since I know this year we had

         24  this dilemma that we passed our own budget, we were

         25  at a standstill until November, I thought we passed
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          2  the budget mod that says you could now move ahead. I

          3  see we have another budget mod, but whether it is 1

          4  million, whether it is 9.5, in this plan, to the

          5  credit to the Mayor, he not only restores the $1

          6  million, but he puts back in full the 9.5 for

          7  substance abuse.

          8                 I need to know before we adopt this

          9  budget, how are things going to change so that when

         10  we adopt, and if we have a consensus budget, because

         11  if in the event we are back to the same scenario,

         12  then I understand why not. But if we do agree that

         13  now we are friends, and I don't mean you and I, the

         14  Administration and the Council Leadership, which I

         15  am part of not because I am Chairman of the Health

         16  Committee but because I am Majority Whip, and we

         17  pass our budget on time, see see we said "we"?  What

         18  assurance do we have that comes July 1, since you

         19  have all of these things in place, that those

         20  contracts will be up and running and beginning as of

         21  the first day of the fiscal year so that they will

         22  be registered so that we don't have to come back in

         23  November and say, oh, by the way, I am pulling --

         24  what was the first, two point something? Because we

         25  accrued all of this money because the voluntary
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          2  sector or the CBO didn't spend the money. Well, how

          3  the heck can they spend it when you didn't register

          4  the contract?

          5                 So, can you, before you leave, tell

          6  me how things are going to be different comes July 1

          7  if we have a consent budget, and now we have back

          8  the 9.5 for the Speaker's substance abuse

          9  initiative, and the 1 million for alcohol services?

         10  Can you please tell me how next year the budget will

         11  be a little different and that the services will

         12  start on time and there should no excuse, and like

         13  Council Member Clarke said, if in the event then the

         14  CBO fails to properly process the vouchers, the

         15  paperwork, then I am not going to scream and she can

         16  swear on the stack of Bibles, and I am going to sit

         17  her down, because I am not going to defend CBOs if

         18  they are properly registered and they can start

         19  properly in July.

         20                 Now, comes November and all of a

         21  sudden they didn't spend in the first five months,

         22  then you have to go after those CBOs, to call them

         23  and say, excuse me, you know, we fight every year to

         24  keep you alive, and all of a sudden when you have no

         25  excuse you still embarrass us. Do you understand
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          2  where i am coming from?

          3                 But I have a problem about I don't

          4  believe that we are going to spend $9.5 million next

          5  year, although it is in a space line, so I don't

          6  have to worry about it, that is what it was. So was

          7  the million dollars?

          8                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: So we thank you

         10  for that. See, I do know how to say thank you.

         11                 Can you enlighten me?

         12                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Well, what I can

         13  propose is that certainly with the alcoholism

         14  programs we are going to be concluding those

         15  solicitation processes and, you know, we will have

         16  those programs off the ground well before July 1

         17  because those were not targeted.

         18                 The good news on the substance abuse

         19  dollars is that we have had a period of time where

         20  we have had scopes of services developed, and we

         21  have in some instances amendments to existing

         22  contracts ready to go forward and have registered,

         23  so we really are able to hit the ground running so

         24  that we should be able to have a very early start

         25  and I don't anticipate any delay or significant
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          2  delay that should interfere with our spending the

          3  allocation that you have, you know, that the Council

          4  has funded us for and the Administration will want

          5  us to carry out.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Let me make one

          7  more point, because I am getting up there in age,

          8  and I started and I lost track and it came back to

          9  me; and that is again with the question of this

         10  year's budget.

         11                 Commissioner, I have been here 14

         12  years in the Council. I came here January 1 of '85?

         13  And I must tell you, I am still baffled because I

         14  still do not have a handle.

         15                 All I know is that $9.5 million was

         16  put into the FY '98 -- I mean, $4.7 million in the

         17  FY '98 budget, money that was put into your agency,

         18  money that -- at least as far as we are aware -- it

         19  is still in your budget. And I say it is not there

         20  physically now, because, again, expense money you

         21  can't roll over. But it was never spent according to

         22  us because throughout that fiscal year we never saw

         23  any budget mod that actually pulled out the accrued

         24  money or any money out, so as far as I am concerned,

         25  in FY '98, $4.75 million was in your budget. You
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          2  tell me you didn't spend it and you tell me you put

          3  it back and in order to roll it back or give it

          4  back, there has to be a budget mod. And in the

          5  absence of the budget mod, somebody spent the money.

          6                 Now, either you will please get back

          7  to me and tell me where that money went, because it

          8  can only go in one place, sir, into the Department

          9  of Mental Health, Mental Retardation and Alcoholism

         10  Services, you cannot give it back unless it comes

         11  back as a budget mod, and we have seen it, correct?

         12                 So, that leads me to believe, in the

         13  absence that the money is there and you can't roll

         14  over, and the fiscal year came and gone, then

         15  somebody spent the money.

         16                 So, may I respectfully ask that you

         17  go back and research your agency before I ask for

         18  our Investigation Unit to investigate where the

         19  $4.75 million went in Fiscal Year '98.

         20                 And by the way, I suggest that if we

         21  don't get an answer, maybe we will include the

         22  Comptroller's Office, because somehow he also

         23  certifies budgets, and I still haven't heard what

         24  happened to the $4.75 million.

         25                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STILL:
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          2  Excuse me, Councilman. I did try to address that

          3  earlier. I did acknowledge that we did not get the

          4  contracts in place, the money was not spent, and the

          5  money reverted to the general fund --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Yes, reverted to

          7  the -- sir, to revert the money back, and I am not a

          8  lawyer and I got lawyers and the Finance people

          9  telling me that you, and I am not saying you, the

         10  Administration in order to take it out of your

         11  budget and get back to the general revenue, it has

         12  to be done in a budget mod because the unit of

         13  appropriation when we passed the budget locks you

         14  in. I may look stupid, but I have been here 14 years

         15  and you know something - term limits, the tragedy is

         16  that when I finally learn how to get the budget and

         17  know where to find it, you are throwing me out of

         18  office. So, please don't insult me. And I am not

         19  blaming you. I am telling you that money is in your

         20  agency. Someone spent it. I am not saying you. I

         21  want to know what happened to that money.

         22                 Now, do you want to follow up? And

         23  don't tell me how you gave it back, because I am

         24  telling you right now it is still in your agency.

         25                 Do you want to follow up, sir?

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            85

          1  DEPARTMENT OF MENTAL HEALTH

          2                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STILL:

          3  Certainly. We will consult with OMB and the

          4  Comptroller and we will get back to you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you.

          6                 And let me say that I am prepared to

          7  ask upon the Department of Investigation, on any

          8  Tom, Dick and Harry to look into it, because this

          9  nonsense is going to stop. Because in fairness, I

         10  cannot negotiate a budget, or I thought, the Council

         11  and the Administration, we thought we had something

         12  agreed upon and then all of a sudden you decide when

         13  and how and where? No, sir. From now on in Health

         14  Services you ain't getting away with it anymore.

         15                 I got three years left, like I said

         16  once, we could be the best of friends, or I could be

         17  your worst nightmare.

         18                 So, Commissioner, although you are

         19  the Commissioner of Mental Health, and although you

         20  didn't do closing remarks, before I turn it back to

         21  you to give some inspiring closing remarks, may I

         22  suggest that both as the Department of Health and

         23  Mental Health, that you leave somebody behind,

         24  because the public will be testifying in areas,

         25  whether although this is expense, I am sure that I
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          2  am going to be hearing about the million dollars of

          3  the Animal Control Center, which is in this plan to

          4  neuter and spay animals only in those facilities,

          5  there are other CBOs that may be discussing where

          6  the 4.75 million disappeared to, that may be in

          7  mental health, alcohol services; so may I ask

          8  someone, a key staff person stay behind both from

          9  this agency and Mental Health so they can hear the

         10  testimony?

         11                 Yes, Ma'am.

         12                 CO-CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Just before

         13  you go, I just wanted to say to you that although I

         14  did not do any extensive questioning on early

         15  intervention program, it is a critical program,

         16  especially to children aged three and under, and

         17  would want to know later on, is there a waiting

         18  list, one? Are there homes, are there providers in

         19  the pipeline to be certified, including where are

         20  there gaps in the services?

         21                 I know that you have a person that I

         22  talk to from time to time, I think that the service,

         23  and that he has been responsive, and so because it

         24  is a mandated service, I am not going to beat you up

         25  on it because you got to meet those mandates, so I
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          2  would like to later on get some more questions on

          3  early intervention programs.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Now, having said

          5  that, Commissioner, I would like your other hat, if

          6  you have any closing remarks, I would appreciate

          7  hearing from you.

          8                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Sure.

          9                 Reflecting on the opportunity to make

         10  a closing comment, and your decibel levels and my

         11  decibel levels are different, but I know that --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: We come from

         13  different places. I come from a country that we

         14  don't have mics and we don't have technology and we

         15  have to learn how to scream loud or -- you know,

         16  when I was growing up in Williamsburg, the first

         17  thing I used to hear was, why don't you people speak

         18  English? And then the second thing I used to hear

         19  was, you know, about project, and project, and I got

         20  so to the project that I don't need to. I apologize

         21  -- and that is what I get back a lot, that all of a

         22  sudden I am getting upset, I am not, that's me, take

         23  it because it is the way I am. Sorry, I apologize if

         24  I offended you.

         25                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: No, you didn't
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          2  offend me. And I am sure our relationship continues

          3  to be a constructive and positive one, falling

          4  somewhere between best of friends and worst

          5  nightmare somewhere.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: As a good

          7  Christian I have to practice what I preach.

          8                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: But I think that,

          9  you know, despite the frustration of having

         10  allocation that isn't able to be spent for a variety

         11  of reasons that we have enumerated and discussed

         12  with you this afternoon, I am pleased that the

         13  Council and the Administration jointly recognize

         14  that making an investment in substance abuse

         15  services is a very important commitment to make to

         16  the City of New York and to our citizens. It has not

         17  been made in previous administrations and previous

         18  councils where we have tended to neglect the

         19  substance abuse community and allowed the state to

         20  do what they do and where we sit on the sidelines

         21  and we know that in reality we have a little

         22  control, influence, and we are beginning to flex our

         23  muscles a little bit, and in that respect I join you

         24  as a member of this Administration in trying to flex

         25  the muscles to make sure that allocations are made
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          2  for a population that stands to benefit a good deal

          3  from the services we all here are trying to organize

          4  comprehensively and integrate with mental health

          5  services and primary health care services, and have

          6  begun to do that through an integrative Cumberland

          7  Diagnostic and Treatment Center Program, and when

          8  you have an opportunity to look at the spending plan

          9  for the $9.5 million, I think that the Committee,

         10  the Chair of both the Subcommittee and the Chair of

         11  the Committee will be pleased to see that we have

         12  taken a very proactive position with respect to

         13  integrative health care models, recognizing that

         14  mental health and substance abuse and primary health

         15  care go hand-in-hand and that the whole is greater

         16  than the sum of its parts. So there are very good

         17  opportunities here for the City of New York.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you very

         19  much, Commissioner.

         20                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Again, would you

         22  please leave your key staff people behind, both in

         23  the Department of Health, if you would be so kind,

         24  and the Department of Mental Health.

         25                 We will take a five-minute break so
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          2  some of us can do some things and then the public

          3  will begin their testimony.

          4                 (Hearing concluded at 2:20 p.m.)
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          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 9th day of March 1999.
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                                   ---------------------

         25                          CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.
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